No. 14-111217-A

---

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
OF THE STATE OF KANSAS**

---



**STATE OF KANSAS**  
Plaintiff, Appellant

vs.

**HERMELINDO CANO ESPINOBARROS**  
Defendant, Appellee

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Appeal from the District Court of Douglas County, Kansas  
Honorable Paula B. Martin, District Court Judge  
District Court Case No. 2013 CR 953

---

**Approved**

APR 01 2014

Attorney General of Kansas  
BY nc S. Ct. Rule 6.10

Mark A. Simpson, #23855  
Assistant District Attorney  
Office of the District Attorney  
111 East 11th Street, Unit 100  
Lawrence, Kansas 66044  
Phone: (785) 841-0211  
Fax: (785) 832-8202  
msimpson@douglas-county.com

**Nature of the Case**

This is the State's interlocutory appeal of the suppression of the defendant's statement to police, pursuant to K.S.A. 22-3601(a) as authorized by K.S.A. 22-3603.

**Statement of the Issues**

**Issue #1: The defendant was not in custody when he was interviewed by the police.**

**Issue #2: The district court lacked substantial and compelling evidence to suppress the defendant's statement because the court erroneously admitted the results of the court's independent investigation.**

**Issue #3: The district court lacked substantial and compelling evidence to suppress the defendant's confession because it erroneously admitted a written translation of the police interview that was prepared by an unqualified translator.**

**Issue #4: The defendant was given a legally sufficient *Miranda* warning.**

**Issue #5: The defendant voluntarily waived his rights.**

#### Statement of Facts

Lawrence Police officers Hayden Fowler and David Garcia contacted the Defendant as part of an ongoing investigation. (R.II, 12-13). The officers first contacted the Defendant at his apartment where he lived with roommates. (R.II, 12). The officers asked the Defendant and one of his roommates if they would be willing to speak with the officers. (R.II, 12-13). The officers asked the Defendant and the roommate if they would talk with the police and told them that they were not under arrest and would not be arrested after the interview. (R.II, 13).

The Defendant agreed to speak with police but had no transportation to the police station. (R.II, 13). The officers offered to give the Defendant a ride to the station and back home after the interview. (R.II, 13). The Defendant traveled to the police station with the officers. (R.II, 14). At the station, Officer Fowler read the Defendant his *Miranda* rights and Officer Garcia interpreted them into Spanish. (R.II, 14). The Defendant told Officer Garcia that he spoke Mixteco. (R.II, 42). Despite that, the Defendant was able to respond appropriately in Spanish to questions asked in Spanish and to tell the officers if he did not understand what was said. (R.II, 28). Officer Garcia explained the rights more thoroughly in response to the Defendant's questions. (R.II, 15-18). The Defendant then agreed to speak with the officers. (R.II, 18-19). After the

interview, the Defendant was not arrested. (R.II, 24). He was taken back home by the officers. (R.II, 24).

Officer Garcia testified that he is a native Spanish speaker and that he spoke with the Defendant in Spanish from the initial contact through the interview. (R.II, 7, 18). Officer Garcia believed that the Defendant is fluent in Spanish because the Defendant's answers were responsive to the questions he was asked. (R.II, 28). Officer Garcia testified about what was said in Spanish and English in the interview. (R.II, 6-57).

The Court appointed Maximino Roquez as the interpreter for the Defendant because Mr. Roquez is a native Mixteco speaker. (R.II, 3). Mr. Roquez also testified on the Defendant's behalf about a transcript he prepared of the Defendant's interview with police. (R.II, 81-109). That interview contained no Mixteco, only Spanish and English. (R.III, DVD). Mr. Roquez included a disclaimer with his transcript that said, in part, "I suggest, you may consider the option to consult with a professional translator." (R.III, 5).

After hearing the evidence from the parties, the Court decided to hire another interpreter to create a transcript of the interview with the Defendant. (R.II, 165). The Court hired Shelley Bock to create a transcript with the Spanish translated into English. (R.II, 165). The State objected to the Court conducting an independent investigation into the case. (R.II, 165-166). Neither the State nor the Defendant moved to admit the transcript prepared by Mr. Bock. (R.II). The Court, over the State's objection, admitted the document and relied on it extensively to justify suppression of the Defendant's statement. (R.II, 174, 183).

The Defendant is referred to as Mr. Cano by the court throughout the record because he indicated at a previous appearance that that was what he preferred to be called. Additional facts will be developed as needed.

### Arguments and Authorities

#### **Issue #1: The defendant was not in custody when he was interviewed by the police.**

The defendant raised this issue by filing a motion to suppress the Defendant's confession. (R.I, 91-102). Evidence was presented by the State and the Defendant at a motions hearing on January 8, 14<sup>th</sup>, and 21<sup>st</sup>, 2014. (R.II, 1-184). The District Court ruled that the Defendant was in custody and granted the defendant's motion to suppress. (R.II, 174-182).

**Standard of Review:** "We review a decision suppressing evidence under a mixed standard of review. We determine, without reweighing the evidence, whether the facts underlying the trial court's decision are supported by substantial competent evidence. We then conduct a de novo review of the district court's legal conclusion drawn from those facts. [Citation omitted]." *State v. Morton*, 286 Kan. 632, 638-39, 186 P.3d 785, 790 (2008).

"*Miranda* safeguards are only required for custodial interrogations, but not for investigatory, noncustodial interrogations." *State v. Vanek*, 39 Kan. App. 2d 529, 533, 180 P.3d 1087, 1091 (2008). "Miranda warnings are required only where there has been such a restriction on a person's freedom as to render him 'in custody.' [Citations omitted]" *Morton*, 286 Kan. at 639.

A two prong inquiry is required to determine whether an interrogation is custodial:

“The first prong is: what were the circumstances surrounding the interrogation?...The second prong of the inquiry is: under the totality of those circumstances, would a reasonable person have felt he or she was not at liberty to terminate the interrogation and leave?” *State v. Morton*, 286 Kan. at 640.

A number of factors must be considered in determining the circumstances surrounding the interrogation:

“(1) the interrogation's place and time; (2) the interrogation's duration; (3) the number of police officers present; (4) the conduct of the officers and the person subject to the interrogation; (5) the presence or absence of actual physical restraint or its functional equivalent, such as drawn firearms or a stationed guard; (6) the status of the person being questioned as a suspect or a witness; (7) whether the person being questioned was escorted by the police to the interrogation location or arrived under his or her own power; and (8) the interrogation's result, *i.e.*, whether the person was ultimately allowed to leave, detained further, or arrested. No one factor outweighs another, nor do the factors bear equal weight. Every case must be analyzed on its own particular facts.” *State v. Schultz*, 289 Kan. 334, 341, 212 P.3d 150, 155 (2009).

The facts that the district court relied on to find that the defendant was in custody are supported by substantial competent evidence; however, consideration of the district court's legal conclusion immediately reveals serious errors in the district court's analysis. First, the district court erred in using a subjective standard because it is the wrong legal standard. It is well established that “the proper analysis of whether a person is “in custody” is an objective analysis that ignores subjective beliefs, personality, and mental capacity of the defendant.” *State v. William*, 248 Kan. 389, 405, 807 P.2d 1292, 1305 (1991). Despite this well established legal standard, the district court erroneously

considered subjective traits of the defendant in its analysis regarding the Miranda custody issue:

“This is a unique case given the language issue, so this Court is considering some additional factors. Mr. Cano [the defendant, also known as Mr. Espinobarros] does not speak English. Spanish is not his first language. He is from Mexico, and the laws of this country and legal concepts are foreign to him. He is not familiar with the court system as evidenced by later comments about ‘the court’. He left school in Mexico at age 12.” (R.II, p.176).

The United States Supreme Court explained why a subjective standard, as the district court applied, is inappropriate for a Miranda custody analysis:

“There is an important conceptual difference between the *Miranda* custody test and the line of cases from other contexts considering age and experience. The *Miranda* custody inquiry is an objective test. As we stated in *Keohane*, “[o]nce the scene is set and the players' lines and actions are reconstructed, the court must apply an objective test to resolve the ultimate inquiry.” [Citation omitted]. The objective test furthers “the clarity of [*Miranda's*] rule,” [Citation omitted], ensuring that the police do not need “to make guesses as to [the circumstances] at issue before deciding how they may interrogate the suspect,” [Citation omitted].” *Yarborough v. Alvarado*, 541 U.S. 652, 667, 124 S. Ct. 2140, 2151, 158 L. Ed. 2d 938 (2004).

The district court did the exact thing that *Yarborough* warns against when it took into account the defendant’s language skills, his background, his familiarity with the American legal system, and his education. The district court reached the wrong legal conclusion because it used the wrong standard in making its determination.

The district court also reached the wrong legal conclusion because it focused only on the facts that supported a finding that the defendant was in custody and ignored the totality of the circumstances. The totality of the circumstances analysis requires the legal conclusion that a reasonable person would have felt free to leave the interview. The

interview began at 10:47 a.m on the defendant's day off work. (R.II, 13, 14). It lasted only an hour and eight minutes. (R.II, 24). Officers Fowler and Garcia were dressed in plain clothes. (R.III, DVD). The officers were polite and professional throughout. (R.III, DVD). The defendant was not restrained in any way. (R.II, 25). The defendant was a suspect. The defendant was transported to the police station by the police because he did not have transportation of his own. (R.II, 14).

The only factors that would tend to support the district court's legal conclusion are that the defendant was a suspect and that he was transported to the police station by the police. But Miranda warnings are not required "simply because the questioning takes place in the station house, or because the questioned person is one whom the police suspect." *Oregon v. Mathiason*, 429 U.S. 492, 495, 97 S. Ct. 711, 714, 50 L. Ed. 2d 714 (1977). Also, the fact that the defendant was transported to the police station is not an indication of custodial status in this case. In this case, transportation by police was a matter of convenience, not a restriction of freedom. (R.II, 13,14).

From the beginning, the police made clear the defendant was not being taken into custody. (R.II, 13). Officer Garcia testified that he first made contact with the defendant at the defendant's apartment. (R.II, 12). The defendant invited Officer Garcia into his home. (R.II, 12). Officer Garcia explained to the defendant and his roommate "that we'd like to talk to both of them in reference [to] an investigation, [and] asked them if they were willing to come down to the police station to talk to us." (R.II, 12-13). During the initial contact at the defendant's apartment, Officer Garcia told the defendant and his roommate that "they weren't under arrest and they were not going to be under arrest after

our conversation.” (R.II, 13). In response, the defendant “said he would like to talk to us and wouldn’t – had no issue going to the police department.” (R.II, 13).

The defendant said he was willing to go with Officer Garcia, but he did not have transportation. Officer Garcia testified that the defendant “said if we were willing to give him a ride, he’d be more than happy to join us. We informed him we could give him a ride, that wasn’t an issue, and we would bring him back home as well after we were done.” (R.II, 13). Officer Garcia asked the defendant if he needed to finish any chores around the house or change clothes, but the defendant said “he didn’t need to change and he was ready to go.” (R.II, 13).

During the interview the defendant “was told that he could leave at any time, and if he chose to talk to us, at any time he could tell us he was done and just get up and leave.” (R.II, 19). Officer Garcia told the defendant “if he were to stand up and leave and walk out the door, all we were going to do is just wave at him and say have a nice day.” (R.II, 19). The district court apparently interpreted this statement as an indication that the defendant could not have a ride back home if he did not speak with police. (R.II, 176-177). The district court’s interpretation of this statement is unreasonable because the defendant had already been told unequivocally that he would be given a ride back home. Would a reasonable person refuse to believe the police when they say they will give that person a ride home? Clearly, the police were trying to convey to the defendant that he did not have to talk to them. They did not threaten to withhold a ride from the defendant, and they previously told him they would give him a ride home.

The district court also attached significance to the exchange between the officers and the defendant about him being able to answer a call from his wife during the interview. (R.II, 177). The district court found that the exchange supported the finding that the defendant was in custody; however, a reasonable person would not have understood it that way. A review of that exchange shows that the police were trying to accommodate the defendant when he received a phone call from his wife. (R.III, DVD). They told him to take the call if he wanted to, and the officers even offered to step outside the interview room. (R.II, 26). In other words, the police made clear that the defendant was not being isolated from the world. He could use his cell phone and answer incoming calls. That tends to support a finding that the defendant was not in custody because his freedom to use his cell phone was not restricted in any way.

The defendant was not arrested after the interview. (R.II, 24). Instead, the police drove the defendant back to his apartment just as they promised they would. (R.II, 24). A review of the totality of the circumstances shows that the district court reached the wrong legal conclusion because a reasonable person in the defendant's position would have felt free to leave. The district court reached the wrong conclusion because it erroneously considered subjective factors of the defendant and ignored the totality of the circumstances that show the defendant was not in custody for *Miranda* purposes

**Issue #2: The district court lacked substantial and compelling evidence to suppress the defendant's statement because the court erroneously admitted the results of the court's independent investigation.**

The State objected to the admission of Court Exhibit 1. (R.II, 165-166, 174). The District Court overruled the State's objection and admitted Court Exhibit 1. (R.II, 174, 183).

**Standard of Review:** “We review a decision suppressing evidence under a mixed standard of review. We determine, without reweighing the evidence, whether the facts underlying the trial court's decision are supported by substantial competent evidence. We then conduct a de novo review of the district court's legal conclusion drawn from those facts. [Citation omitted].” *State v. Morton*, 286 Kan. at 638-39. “Generally, appellate review on questions of admissibility of evidence is governed by an abuse of discretion standard of review. [Citation omitted]. Judicial discretion is abused when judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable. If reasonable persons could differ as to the propriety of the action taken by the trial court, then it cannot be said that the trial court abused its discretion.” *State v. Drach*, 268 Kan. 636, 647-48, 1 P.3d 864, 872-73 (2000). “Further, if a district court abuses its discretion in admitting expert testimony, the error is subject to harmlessness analysis.” *State v. Gaona*, 293 Kan. 930, 940, 270 P.3d 1165, 1173 (2012).

“A judge shall not investigate facts in a matter independently, and shall consider only the evidence presented and any facts that may properly be judicially noticed.” KS R RULE 601B CJC Canon 2, Rule 2.9(C). “The adversary system embodied in this nation's courts operates on the assumption that justice may best be harnessed when the disputants test each other's legal theories and factual portrayals before detached observers—judges or jurors—charged with resolving those disputes.” *State v. Hargrove*, 48 Kan. App. 2d 522, 547, 293 P.3d 787, 804 (2013).

The district court conducted an improper independent investigation in this case and admitted the results of that improper judicial investigation. The district court explained its actions as follows:

“After our last hearing when I took the defendant’s motion to suppress under advisement, I decided to hire an independent expert to translate the first ten or so minutes of the interview in which *Miranda* warnings were discussed. The Court retained Shelley Bock who completed his Master’s degree at the University of London in Spanish translation. I informed counsel of this decision, and Mr. Simpson [the prosecutor] indicated after some thought he had objections to the this and I indicated we’d hear his objections today.” (R.II, 165).

The State objected to the district court’s translator because “it would be essentially the Court considering evidence that hasn’t been presented by the parties, and so it would be essentially an independent investigation into the matter.” (R.II, 166). In overruling the State’s objection, the district court said:

“Concerning the [State’s] objection, this is an independent investigation. I appreciate Mr. Simpson’s comments and his desire to avoid appeals, but I don’t see this as an investigation but rather to simply learn what has already been said. It’s really just an inquiry into the accuracy of what Mr. Garcia told Mr. Cano. And so I am going to overrule the objection and proceed to rule on the motion to suppress.” (R.II, 174).

The district court then provided the parties with a transcript of the *Miranda* portion of the interview that had been prepared and translated by the district court’s translator. (R.II, 169). Neither party moved to admit the court produced document. (R.II). The district court admitted the transcript over the State’s objection as “the Court’s exhibit.” (R.II, 174,183). This evidence should not have been admitted or considered by the court because it was the result of an independent investigation by the court. It is not the role of the district court to investigate the facts of a case and present evidence. There is no wiggle room in the prohibition on independent investigations by the district court. It was abuse of discretion to contravene that bright line rule, and it was improper for the district court to consider Court Exhibit 1 in any way.

Not only was the admission of Court Exhibit 1 prohibited, but it significantly prejudiced the State. The district court said “As I went over earlier in looking at the two different translations [Defendant’s Exhibit A and Court Exhibit 1], both support this conclusion. It’s translated to say that it [anything the defendant says in the interview] can be used in the prosecution of others instead of against Mr. Cano himself.” (R.II, 179). This factual assertion by the district court is incorrect. Only Court Exhibit 1 says such a thing.

A review of the record shows that Defense Exhibit B contradicts Court Exhibit 1. Defense Exhibit B says the defendant was told that his statements could be used against him. According to Defense Exhibit B, Officer Garcia told the defendant “if you agree to talk to us, and you are to say something that would be... if you were to say about something that was a crime, and if were charged with a crime, you would, the information we talked about *could be used against you* in prosecuting that crime.” (Emphasis added. R.III, 4). Defense Exhibit B makes clear that Officer Garcia told the defendant that what he said could be used against the defendant himself, not just others. Contrast that with Court Exhibit 1 that interprets the same exchange as “It is best to say that if you say something criminal or give us information, we can use that information against a “Juan Carlos” or about “Juan Carlos”, the practically we can use that information in court.” (R.III, 10).

The testimony from Officer Garcia also contradicts Court Exhibit 1. Officer Garcia testified that he told the defendant “if we talk about any crimes that were committed during our conversation and charges could be filed, and if charges were filed,

anything we say during the conversation would be used against *him* in court.” (Emphasis added, R. II, 15).

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