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

leave, detained further, or arrested? *State v. Schultz*, 289 Kan. 334, 341, 212 P.3d 150 (2009); *Morton*, 186 Kan. at 640; *Jones*, 283 Kan. at 194.

Caselaw is clear that no one factor necessarily outweighs another, nor do the factors bear equal weight. *Id.* Each case should be analyzed on its own set of individual facts, and each factor's importance may vary from case to case. *Id.* The State concedes that the factors the district court relied upon are supported by substantial competent evidence. However, the State argues that the court used a subjective rather than an objective standard because the court also considered other factors in reaching its conclusion. Citing *State v. William*, the State explains that an objective standard ignores the subjective beliefs, personality, and mental capacity of a defendant. 248 Kan. 389, 405, 807 P.2d 1292 (1991). The State goes on to cite *Yarborough v. Alvarado*, stating that "there is an important conceptual difference between the *Miranda* custody test and the line of cases from other contexts considering age and experience." 541 U.S. 652 (2004).

While the district court did consider additional factors beyond the eight primary factors listed above, only one of them concerns the defendant's beliefs, personality, and mental capacity - the fact that he left school in Mexico at the age of 12. (R. II, 176). Officers could not have been expected to know this fact without asking. The other factors the court considered though were obvious to the officers without them having to ask any questions, and in fact they made such determinations before the interrogation even began - they had a Spanish speaking officer with them when they went to knock on the defendant's door. Officers were well aware that the defendant did not speak English and that he was from

Mexico – a judicial system that no doubt varies from our own. (R. II, 176). Despite the State’s rigid adherence to the eight primary factors listed above, an objective analysis considers “how a reasonable person *in the suspect’s position* would have understood the situation.” *State v. Hebert*, 277 Kan. 61, 68, 82 P.3d 470 (2004) (emphasis added); *see also State v. Valdez*, 266 Kan. 774, 791, 977 P.2d 242 (1999).

While Kansas caselaw has not necessarily addressed the precise issue faced in this case, the Tenth Circuit provides some guidance in addressing this issue. “The determination of custody, from an examination of the totality of the circumstances, is necessarily fact intensive.’ [Citation omitted] We thus avoid hard line rules and instead allow several *non-exhaustive* factors to guide us... Although these factors are useful, we emphasize that we must look to the totality of the circumstances and consider the police-citizen encounter as a whole, rather than picking some facts and ignoring others.” *United States v. Jones*, 523 F.3d 1235, 1240 (10th Cir. 2008) (emphasis added) (*quoting United States v. Griffin*, 7 F.3d 1512, 1518 (10th Cir. 1993)). By asking this Court to ignore the clearly apparent, objective facts that the defendant is from Mexico and does not speak English, the State is picking and choosing which facts should be considered and which should be ignored – the very thing *Jones* and *Griffin* caution against.

Next, the State argues that the district court chose to focus its analysis only on the facts supporting the finding that the defendant was in custody, ignoring the totality of the circumstances. By making this argument, however, the State asks this Court to do the same thing with the facts that support a finding that the defendant was *not* in custody. Using a

fact-intensive analysis of the totality of the circumstances, and considering the *non-exhaustive* list of factors as well as factors that fall outside of the articulated list, the district court reached the reasonable conclusion that a reasonable person *in the defendant's position* would have felt as though they were in custody. (R. II, 176-77). Specifically, and in favor of its decision, the district court considered that the police transported the defendant to the police station, that the questioning took place at the police station in an interrogation room, that the defendant was a suspect, that the defendant does not speak English, and that the defendant is from Mexico where the laws and legal concepts differ from the United States. (R. II, 176). The district court further considered that at multiple times throughout the interview, officers stated that they would take the defendant home *when they finished* talking to him. (R. II, 177). The district court also considered the factors that were not in favor of granting the defendant's motion - that the interrogation was not terribly lengthy, that there were only two police officers present, that there was no physical restraint, that there were no guns drawn or guards posted, and that the defendant was transported back home and not arrested after the interrogation concluded. (R. II, 176). Noting that the importance of each factor varies from case to case, the district court reached the conclusion that under the totality of the circumstances, "a reasonable person [in the defendant's] situation would not have felt free to leave." (R. II, 175-77).

Finally, the State attempts to downplay the exchange between the defendant and officers regarding his ability to get up and end the interrogation. What's more is this is one of the eight factors to which the State is asking this court to rigidly adhere - the words and

conduct of the officers during the interrogation. It is without a doubt that officers informed the defendant that he was not being taken into custody. (R. II, 13). However, the words that matter the most to a reasonable person's perception, and consequently the words that the district court highlighted, were those spoken in the interrogation room - "when we get done talking, we'll take you home," and "this is how we plan to talk to you the whole day," and "if he were to stand up and leave and walk out the door, all we were going to do is just wave at him and say have a nice day." (R. II, 19, 177). Furthermore, officers felt it necessary to *Mirandize* the defendant, suggesting that they viewed this as a custodial interrogation. (R. II, 14). It is reasonable for a person - especially one not familiar with the U.S. legal system - to conclude that a ride home was conditioned upon talking to officers until *they* were satisfied with the conversation. Telling the defendant that they would wave at him and say have a nice day if he chose to get up and leave simply reaffirms such a perception. Reasonable people do not intentionally wave at people and tell them goodbye and then walk with them down the street. The perception of a withheld ride was a reasonable perception for the defendant to have, and the district court recognized such. (R. II, 177). It is further reasonable for a person to believe that upon receiving the *Miranda* warnings, they are in custody, even if it is only for a brief amount of time. That *Miranda* warnings are only required for custodial interrogations only serves to reaffirm this reasonable perception.

Under a totality of all of the objective circumstances - those not contingent upon a person's beliefs, personality, and mental capacity - the district court reached a reasonable conclusion, supported by substantial competent evidence, that a reasonable person in the

defendant's position would have felt as though he were in custody for purposes of the interrogation. This conclusion was not in error, and the district court did not consider subjective factors in lieu of the well-established totality of the circumstances test.

Issue 2: The district court had substantial competent evidence to suppress the defendant's statements and properly based its findings on the evidence before the court.

Standard of Review

The defendant again agrees with the standard of review as explained in *State v. Morton*, 286 Kan. 632, 638-39, 186 P.3d 785 (2008), and as cited by the State, adding again the standard cited in *State v. Mays*. "In reviewing a district court's decision regarding suppression, this court reviews the factual underpinnings of the decision by a substantial competent evidence standard and the ultimate legal conclusion by a de novo standard with independent judgment. [Citation omitted]. This court does not reweigh evidence, pass on the credibility of witnesses, or resolve conflicts in the evidence. [Citation omitted]." *State v. Mays*, 277 Kan. 359, 372, 85 P.3d 1208 (2004). The defendant also concurs with the judicial discretion standard of review as explained in *State v. Drach*, 268 Kan. 636, 647-48, 1 P.3d 864 (2000), and as cited by the State. The defendant, however, does not agree that the district court abused its discretion, and so the harmless standard cited in *State v. Gaona*, 293 Kan. 930, 940, 270 P.3d 1165 (2012), and as cited by the State, is inapplicable to the facts of this case.

Argument

The defendant does not dispute the State's assertion that judges are not to independently investigate the facts of a case. That much is clear in both the Kansas Code of Judicial Conduct as well as Kansas caselaw. *See* KAN. CODE OF JUD. CONDUCT Canon 2 R. 2.9(C) (2009); *see also State v. Hargrove*, 48 Kan. App. 2d 522, 547, 293 P.3d 787 (2013). However, the State improperly classifies the district court's actions as an independent investigation. While it is true that the district court hired its own translator to translate the *Miranda* portion of the defendant's interrogation with the police, this was not an arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable action. The State objected to the district court's action arguing that "it would be essentially the Court considering evidence that hasn't been presented by the parties, and so it would be essentially an independent investigation into the matter." (R. II, 166). The State's classification of the translation as "new" evidence, however, is incorrect and surprising given their objections to the defendant's use of an "unqualified translator." No new evidence was considered through the district court's actions - the untranslated interview had been submitted into evidence, an "unqualified" translation (as the state puts it) had been submitted into evidence, and the State presented its own witness to testify as to the translation. It is surprising that given all the evidence presented to the district court that the State would object to the translation as "new" evidence, or even object at all to the admission of an "unqualified" translation.

The district court also explained that it did not view its actions as an independent investigation, but rather as a means "to simply learn what has already been said. It's really

just an inquiry into the accuracy of what Mr. Garcia told [the defendant].” (R. II, 174). In fact, the defendant’s own interpretation called into question some of what Officer Garcia testified he told the defendant. (R. II, 94-99). Given that the State objected to the introduction of the defendant’s translation (R. III, 1-7) because the interpreter was not a “professional translator,” one would almost expect the State to welcome a “professional translation” geared at clearing up any differences between the defendant’s translation and the State’s witness’ testimony. (R. II, 89-93). While reasonable persons could argue as to the propriety of the district court’s actions, a strong argument can be made that the court’s actions were most certainly reasonable and hardly arbitrary or fanciful when it hired an independent “professional translator” to clear up any mistranslations or contested portions of the interview.³ After all, the court was simply using the evidence before it (the untranslated interview) in order to compare translation A (Officer Garcia’s testimony) to translation B (the defendant’s translation). However, because the “professional translation” did not benefit the State’s case, the State now objects to its existence. The defendant doubts that the State would have objected if the translation had benefited the State or had no effect either way.

The district court reached the conclusion that in considering both translations - the defendant’s translation and the court’s independent translation - each supported the

³ United States Supreme Court Rule 31 regarding translations even contemplates lower courts having the authority to order translations. “Whenever any record to be transmitted to this Court contains material written in a foreign language without a translation made under the authority of the lower court...” SUP. CT. R. 31. Even though Rule 31 specifically concerns written material, it logically follows that a lower court would also have the authority to order a translation of an audio/video file.

conclusion that “[anything that was said] can be used in the prosecution of others instead of [the defendant] himself.” (R. II, 179). The State argues that the defendant’s translation contradicts that finding and clearly states that the defendant’s statements could be used against him. The State quotes a portion of the defendant’s translation that in fact does say that his statements could be used against him, but the State failed to recognize that the portion of the translation it quoted was the English portion spoken by Officer Fowler, not the Spanish portion spoken by Officer Garcia. (R. III, 4, 10).

The Spanish portion, on the other hand, spoken by Officer Garcia is not as clear as the State attempts to portray it. The defendant’s translation states if the defendant says “something about a criminal or something that is about others, or have that information and they give you charges, or give the charges to someone, everything we are talking about can be used in the court.” (R. III, 4). The translation by Officer Garcia to a trained professional may appear convoluted and complex at first glance, but the general idea of that portion of the *Miranda* warning could be gleaned from his awkward wording. To a layperson with little or no experience with the legal system and with a language barrier, however, Officer Garcia’s statements are anything but clear. The district court’s independent translation supports this lack of clarity,⁴ and the defendant’s statement that he “understand[s] some, more or less” shows there was at least some lack of understanding. (R. III, 4, 10).

⁴ The district court’s translation stated that if the defendant were to “say something criminal or give us information, we can use that information against a ‘Juan Carlos’ or about ‘Juan Carlos,’ then practically, we can use that information in court.” (R. III, 10).

The district court did not violate any bright line rule; no “new” evidence was introduced; and no arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable actions were taken by the district court in seeking its own independent translator in order to completely and accurately consider the evidence already before the court. Therefore, the district court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the independent translation and considering it in making its ruling. Because the district court did not abuse its discretion, no harmlessness analysis need be made, and the district court’s ruling and admission of Court’s Exhibit 1 should not be disturbed.

Issue 3: The district court had substantial competent evidence to suppress the defendant’s statements and properly admitted a written translation of the police interview prepared by the Mixteco translator.

Standard of Review

The defendant agrees with the standard of review as explained in *State v. Morton*, 286 Kan. 632, 638-39, 186 P.3d 785 (2008), and as cited by the State, adding again the standard cited in *State v. Mays*. “In reviewing a district court’s decision regarding suppression, this court reviews the factual underpinnings of the decision by a substantial competent evidence standard and the ultimate legal conclusion by a de novo standard with independent judgment. [Citation omitted]. This court does not reweigh evidence, pass on the credibility of witnesses, or resolve conflicts in the evidence. [Citation omitted].” *State v. Mays*, 277 Kan. 359, 372, 85 P.3d 1208 (2004). The defendant also concurs with the judicial discretion standard concerning the admissibility of expert testimony as cited in *State v. Gaines*, 260 Kan. 752, 756, 926 P.2d 641 (1996), and as cited by the State. The

defendant, however, does not agree that the district court abused its discretion, and so the harmless standard cited in *State v. Gaona*, 293 Kan. 930, 940, 270 P.3d 1165 (2012), and as cited by the State, is inapplicable to the facts of this case.

Argument

The use of interpreters is not uncommon in criminal proceedings. In Kansas, the qualifications for such interpreters is found in K.S.A. § 75-4353, which include:

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